2005

Liberty Mutual Insurance Company v. Burdene Shores and Unior Shores : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Court Of Appeals has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code §78-2a-3(2)(j), by transfer from the Utah Supreme Court. The Utah Supreme Court has original jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code §78-2-2(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Issue No. 1 - Improper Dismissal of the Bad-Faith Refusal to Settle Counterclaim

Did Judge Pullan improperly dismiss Burdene Shores' counterclaim against Liberty Mutual for bad faith refusal to Settle in violation of an obligation to act in good faith and deal fairly with their insureds under the Liberty Mutual insurance policy issued to the Shores (hereinafter the "insurance policy")?

Standard of Review: Correctness. *Phone Directories v. Henderson*, 8 P.3d 256 (Utah 2000).

Issue No. 2 - Improper Dismissal of Counterclaims for Declaratory Relief

Did Judge Pullan improperly dismiss Burdene Shores' and Unior Shores' (the Shores) claims for declaratory relief by finding as a matter of law, that the Shores' claims that the family exclusion (or step down, hereinafter the "family exclusion") provision, limiting the liability of Liberty Mutual to statutory minimums complies with Utah law? Was it proper for Judge Pullan to ignore the reasonable expectations of the Shores, based on the false representations of the Liberty Mutual agent? Is the family exclusion void and against Utah public policy?

Standard of Review: Correctness. *Phone Directories v. Henderson*, 200 UT, 8 P.3d 256 (Utah 2000).

Issue No. 3 - Improper Granting of Summary Judgment Finding the Liberty Mutual Family Exclusion Provision Valid and Enforceable

Did Judge Pullan improperly grant Liberty Mutual Insurance Company's motion for summary judgment on their Declaratory Judgment action finding as a matter of law, without allowing appropriate discovery or inquiry into related facts, that the family exclusion was valid and enforceable against the Shores?

Standard of Review: Correctness. *Sittner v. Schriever*, 22 P.3d 784, 2001 UT App 99 (Utah App 2001). *Speros v. Fricke*, 98 P.3d 28, 2004 UT 69, ¶20 (Utah 2004). Summary judgment is appropriate only "if the pleadings, . . . and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."

Issue No. 4 - Improper Denial of Discovery

Did Judge Pullan improperly deny the appellant's Rule 56(f) motion to allow further discovery on issues related to Liberty Mutual's motion for summary judgment and motions to dismiss; and, was the trial court's failure and refusal to require Liberty Mutual to go forward with discovery proper?

Standard of Review: either abuse of discretion or correctness, *Roundy v. Staley*, 984 P.2d 404 1999 UT 229 (Utah App 1999).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Burdene Shores and Unior Shores (the Shores) are aged, retired persons in their 70's and 80's.

The Shores purchased an automobile insurance policy from Liberty Mutual as a result of advertising targeted at retired military personnel. The Shores are co-insureds under the insurance policy.

This case involves a simple automobile accident in which Burdene Shores was severely injured. Burdene Shores was a passenger in an automobile driven by her husband, Unior Shores. Unior Shores was primarily at fault in the accident.

The accident caused permanent disability to Burdene Shores; and, she incurred direct medical and medical related expenses significantly in excess of \$25,000.

As the PIP insurer for Burdene Shores, Liberty Mutual received copies of all direct medical expenses and most other medical-related expenses.

At the time of the accident, the Shores had in force a policy of insurance from Liberty Mutual (hereinafter the "insurance policy") with declared policy limits for liability of \$100,000 per person and \$300,000 per accident. The Shores should have been adequately insured, including coverage at least sufficient to cover Burdene Shores' medical and medical-related expenses for her injuries in the accident.

Buried within the insurance policy is a conflicting, ambiguous, family exclusion provision which Liberty Mutual claims limits its liability to Burdene Shores under the liability provisions of the insurance policy to \$25,000 for the negligence of Unior

Shores.

The insurance policy was delivered to the Shores some time after the policy was purchased and coverage was bound.

The family exclusion and consequent reduced limits of liability for insureds is not stated or otherwise mentioned in the policy declarations. No information (materials or otherwise) provided by Liberty Mutual to the Shores prior to the Shores' receipt of the insurance policy referred to the family exclusion. The family exclusion was never pointed out to the Shores by Liberty Mutual in any fashion other than the delivery of a 46-page insurance policy to the Shores some time after the insurance coverage was purchased and after the insurance coverage was bound. The family exclusion was never meaningfully disclosed to the Shores until after a liability policy limits claim of \$100,000 was made by Burdene Shores.

Liberty Mutual has not disputed that it is obligated to pay \$25,000 to Burdene Shores under the liability provisions of the policy for Unior Shores' negligence. However, Liberty Mutual has failed and refused and continues to refuse to pay the \$25,000 to Burdene Shores as a partial settlement, even though it was demanded. Liberty Mutual, as a part of continuing to pressure Burdene Shores to drop all other claims, paid the \$25,000 into the court at the time they filed the declaratory judgment action underlying this appeal.

Liberty Mutual has failed and refused to make any payments under the liability portion of the policy unless and until Burdene Shores provides a complete release of all claims against Liberty Mutual.

Liberty Mutual asserts, and Judge Pullan found as a matter of law, that Burdene Shores is only entitled to recover the family exclusion liability limits amount hidden in the insurance policy.

Course of the Proceedings

The course of proceedings in the trial court is as follows:

1. Liberty Mutual filed suit for declaratory judgment against Burdene Shores on February 9, 2004, seeking to limit their liability for damages to Burdene Shores to \$25,000 as a result of the negligence of Unior Shores.
2. On February 13, 2004 the trial court, on Liberty Mutual's ex parte request, ordered the deposit of \$25,000 into the court trust fund by Liberty Mutual, to be held pending the outcome of this litigation.
3. On February 26, 2004, pursuant to request of Liberty Mutual, Burdene Shores, as the only defendant, waived service of the summons and complaint.
4. On March 12, 2004 (filed on March 17, 2004), Liberty Mutual filed an amended complaint adding Unior Shores as a defendant in their declaratory judgement action.
5. On March 25, 2004, Burdene Shores served and filed her answer and counterclaims against Liberty Mutual.
6. On May 25, 2004, Burdene Shores moved for a scheduling and management conference because of Liberty Mutual's failure and refusal to begin discovery or hold a scheduling and management conference as required by Rule 26(f) of the U R C P.
7. On May 28, 2004, Liberty Mutual filed a motion to dismiss Burdene Shores' bad faith counterclaim (Count Two of her Counterclaim).

8. On June 22, 2004, Judge Lynn Davis, at the request of Liberty Mutual and over the objection of the defendants, stayed all discovery until August 9, 2004.
9. On August 9, 2004, oral argument was held on Liberty Mutual's motion to dismiss Burdene Shores' bad faith counterclaim before Judge Derek Pullan. At the hearing, and on August 27, 2004, by written judgment, Judge Pullan dismissed the bad faith counterclaim of Burdene Shores.
10. At the August 9, 2004 hearing, Judge Pullan did not enter a discovery or scheduling order as requested by the Shores, but did order that the parties confer to work out the outstanding discovery issues.
11. On September 16, 2005 Liberty Mutual filed a motion for summary judgment on its declaratory judgment claims in its complaint; and, for dismissal of the declaratory judgment claims of Burdene Shores' counterclaim.
12. On October 4, 2004, Burdene Shores served requests for admission and requests for production of documents upon Liberty Mutual. Liberty Mutual responded to the requests for admission but failed and refused to respond appropriately to the requests for production.
13. On December 10, 2004 Unior Shores filed and served a motion for Summary Judgment.
14. On December 10, 2004 oral arguments were held on Liberty Mutual's Motion for Summary Judgment; and, some arguments were had on Unior Shores' Motion for Summary Judgment.
15. At the December 10, 2004 hearing, the Shores requested that the court defer its

decision and allow completion of and additional discovery pursuant to Rule 56(f) of the U R C P.

16. Judge Pullan denied the request to complete and obtain additional discovery; and, ruled in favor of Liberty Mutual on the Motion for Summary Judgment and motion to dismiss. The formal judgment was signed January 24, 2005 granting Liberty Mutual's motion for summary judgment and dismissing all counterclaims.

Disposition at the Trial Court

The trial court failed and refused to enforce the Shores' discovery rights.

Judge Pullan dismissed Burdene Shores' bad faith counterclaim.

Judge Pullan granted Liberty Mutual's Motion for Summary Judgment on Liberty Mutual's claims for declaratory relief; and dismissed the Shores' counterclaims for declaratory relief against Liberty Mutual on the same issue – the validity of the family exclusion reduced liability limits in Liberty Mutual's insurance policy with the Shores. With no evidence and essentially no discovery, Judge Pullan ruled as a matter of law that the family exclusion in Liberty Mutual's insurance policy was valid and enforceable.

Judge Pullan refused to defer summary judgment until after further discovery. He refused to require Liberty Mutual to go forward with discovery at the time it should initially have gone forward; and, then refused to defer summary judgment to allow discovery long after the discovery should have occurred and been properly responded to by Liberty Mutual.

RELEVANT FACTS

A review of the transcripts of the hearings which are at issue in this case reveal a number of transcription errors. Most of those errors relate to the improper identification of the person speaking. It is hoped that these transcription errors will have no impact on this appeal.

The transcripts contain only arguments, no testimony and no evidence.

Background Facts

1. The Shores are an elderly, retired couple. Burdene Shores was born on June 17, 1929, making her 76 years old at this time. Unior Shores was born on November 1, 1921, making him 83 years old at this time. Affidavit of Burdene Shores in Opposition to Liberty Mutual's Motion for Summary Judgment (hereinafter "Affidavit of Burdene Shores"), para. 3 and 5. Record on Appeal (hereinafter RoA), pgs. 367 and 368.
2. Unior Shores is retired from the Army. Affidavit of Burdene Shores, para. 3 and 5. RoA, pgs. 368 and 367.

Facts about the Case

3. In late 2002, the Shores received direct mail solicitations from Liberty Mutual advertising the availability of preferred rates of insurance for retired military personnel. After receiving several of these solicitations and seeing other advertisements from Liberty Mutual for automobile insurance they invited a local insurance agent of Liberty Mutual to make a presentation to them. Affidavit of Burdene Shores, para. 3 and 5. RoA, pgs. 368

and 367.

4. Burdene Shores and her husband Unior Shores purchased an automobile insurance policy from Liberty Mutual on about January 10, 2003. Affidavit of Burdene Shores, para. 3 and 5. RoA, pgs. 368 and 367

5. The Shores physically received the insurance policy from Liberty Mutual sometime after January 16, 2003. Answer and Counterclaim, Exhibit "A", Cover letter . RoA, pg. 66. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 9, RoA, pg. 78.

6. The purchase occurred as a result of advertising directed at retired military persons by Liberty Mutual. Affidavit of Burdene Shores, para. 8 and 9. RoA, page 367.

7. There were no terms of the insurance policy discussed by Liberty Mutual agents, or otherwise disclosed to the Shores prior to the purchase of the insurance policy, except that the Shores required the same coverage (including limits of liability) they had under their then existing Met Life policy. Affidavit of Burdene Shores, para. 9 through 17. RoA, pgs. 368 and 367.

8. In order to close the sale, the Liberty Mutual salesman assured the Shores they would have the same coverage under the Liberty Mutual insurance policy as the Met Life policy for which the Liberty Mutual salesman was selling a replacement policy. Affidavit of Burdene Shores, para. 10 through 16, RoA, pgs. 367 and 366

9. On September 9, 2003 the Shores were involved in an automobile accident in which Unior Shores was driving a vehicle owned by the Shores which was then insured by Liberty Mutual. Amended Complaint, para. 6 and 7. RoA, page 17. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 15, RoA, pg. 77.

10. Unior Shores was primarily at fault in causing the accident. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 16, RoA, pg. 77.
11. Burdene Shores was a passenger in the vehicle at the time of the accident, and was without fault in the accident. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 15, RoA, pg. 77.
12. Burdene Shores incurred severe and substantial medical and medical-related expenses as a result of the accident. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 17, RoA, pg. 77.
13. Those medical and medical related expenses are substantially in excess of \$25,000. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 18, RoA, pg. 77.
14. As a result of the accident, Burdene Shores is now severely and permanently disabled. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 17, RoA, pg. 77.
15. The Liberty Mutual insurance policy as delivered to the Shores is 46 pages long. Answer and Counterclaim, Exhibit "A", RoA, pgs. 66 through 21.
16. Except for the limits of coverage purchased and rates charged for that coverage there was no discussion nor disclosure of the terms of the insurance policy to the Shores prior to the issuance of the insurance policy. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 14, RoA, pg. 77.
17. The Shores had no input into the drafting or terms of the insurance policy. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 13, RoA, pg. 77.
18. Other than the above, the family exclusion liability limits of the Liberty Mutual insurance policy were never disclosed in any meaningful fashion to the Shores until after

the insurance policy was purchased by, issued to, and delivered to the Shores; and, a claim had been made by Burdene Shores. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 19, RoA, pg. 77.

19. The Liberty Mutual insurance policy is a contract of adhesion.

20. The Liberty Mutual insurance policy contains declarations listing various types of coverage and the maximum amounts of those coverages (limits of liability). RoA, pgs. 65 through 63.

21. The Liberty Mutual insurance policy at pages 2 and 3 includes the declarations pages (RoA, pgs. 65 through 63) which prominently list limits of coverage, including:

Liability \$100,000 per person, \$300,000 per accident.

Uninsured Motorists (Utah Specific) \$25,000 per person, \$50,000 per accident

Underinsured Motorists (Utah Specific) \$25,000 per person, \$50,000 per accident

Personal Injury Protection (PIP - Utah Specific) \$3,000 medical single limit

22. Nowhere in the insurance policy declarations is there any listing of reduced limits of coverage for any persons insured under the Liberty Mutual insurance policy. RoA, pgs. 65 through 63

23. There is a listing of principal rating factors used in establishing rates in the Liberty Mutual insurance policy listed at pages 28 and 29 RoA, pgs. 39 and 38.

24. The differing limit of liability for insureds is not a differing risk within the meaning of Utah Code §31a-21-308; and, is not clearly stated as required by Utah Code §31a-21-308. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim Count One, para. 22 through 28, RoA, pgs. 76 and 75.

25. None of the listed rating factors include any reference to different rates or risks based on whether or not a claimant is an insured. Insurance Policy, RoA, pgs. 39 and 38.
26. Buried on page 22 of the policy (RoA, pg. 45) is the family exclusion (or step down) liability limit provision which Liberty Mutual claims limits the liability of Liberty Mutual under the insurance policy to \$25,000 for any liability claims by Burdene Shores.
27. The family exclusion liability limit provision was hidden on page 22 of the policy with the intent to hide the provision and prevent the Shores' discovery of the family exclusion and thereby deny them the coverage which they reasonably believed they had purchased. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 20, RoA, pg. 76.
28. The family exclusion liability limit for insureds is ambiguous, and not phrased in a manner that is understandable by ordinary people, and was so phrased and not disclosed in the declarations with the intent to hide the provision from the Shores and other similar insureds. Answer and Counterclaim, Counterclaim, Count One, para. 25 through 27, RoA, pgs. 76 and 75.
29. If the family exclusion provision is valid, the Liberty Mutual insurance policy is not equivalent in coverage to the Met Life insurance policy of the Shores, which the Liberty Mutual insurance policy replaced.
30. If the family exclusion liability limit provision is valid, there were false representations made by Liberty Mutual as to the coverage provided when the Liberty Mutual agent sold the Liberty Mutual insurance policy to the Shores.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Improper Dismissal of the Bad-Faith Counterclaim

Judge Pullan should have allowed the bad faith counterclaim of Burdene Shores to go forward. Dismissal, without discovery, was not proper. Burdene Shores was a first party bad faith claimant in direct privity of contract with Liberty Mutual. Liberty Mutual owed Burdene Shores a duty of good faith and fair dealing, which they violated by refusing to settle part of the claim for the \$25,000 which all parties agreed was due to Burdene Shores.

The bad faith counterclaim of Burdene Shores was improperly dismissed by Judge Pullan by misinterpreting Utah Appellate case law as Liberty Mutual requested.

Improper Granting of Summary Judgment to Liberty Mutual and Dismissal of the Shores' counterclaims for Declaratory Relief, by finding the Family Exclusion reduced liability limits in Liberty Mutual's Insurance Policy Valid and Enforceable

The Liberty Mutual family exclusion liability limits provision in the insurance policy is not valid and is contrary to the public policy of Utah.

If the court finds the Liberty Mutual family exclusion provision valid in Utah, Liberty Mutual did not properly make the provision a part of its policy, falsely represented the terms of its policy at the time of sale, and there are substantial factual questions which preclude summary judgment or dismissal of the counterclaims on the issue.

The Liberty Mutual insurance policy violates Utah Code §31a-21-308 by having differing policy limits of liability for insureds and claimants in general. The statute allows differing policy limits if there are different risks to be covered. There are no differing

risks associated with insureds under the insurance policy; and, the insurance policy does not clearly identify those differing risks even if such did exist.

Failure to allow appropriate Discovery

The trial court failed to require Liberty Mutual to properly engage in discovery, but allowed it to stall discovery in the case.

There are substantial factual questions as to marketing practices to the Shores and specific false representations to the Shores which Judge Pullan should have allowed discovery regarding before ruling on any motion for summary judgment.

If this court finds the Liberty Mutual family exclusion valid, the Shores should nonetheless be able to inquire into the marketing practices directed at the Shores and similar persons, and the false representations of policy provisions made by Liberty Mutual to the Shores in the sale of the insurance policy to them.

DETAILED ARGUMENTS

The issues in this appeal are intertwined. Because of the state of the facts, the state of the law, and Judge Pullan's decisions, it is not possible to nicely separate the issues for purposes of argument.

The underlying and overriding issues controlling all other issues in this case are

- Whether the family exclusion reduced liability limits of Liberty Mutual's insurance policy in this case are valid and enforceable in general, and
- If enforceable in general, is the family exclusion enforceable in specific application to the Shores under the facts of this case? Or stated differently, did Liberty Mutual validly include the family exclusion in the policy delivered to the Shores such that the Shores are bound by that provision?

These issues were argued in Liberty Mutual's motion to dismiss the bad faith counterclaim, although that was not the basis chosen by Judge Pullan for granting the motion to dismiss.

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