2005

Liberty Mutual Insurance Company v. Burdene and Unior Shores : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Similar to the facts in *Pixton*, Burdene Shores is a third-party claimant in this action against Liberty Mutual. Mrs. Shores is a third-party claimant because her claim against the policy for liability coverage arises out of her husband’s negligence. Because she is not in privity of contract, the insurer owes her no fiduciary duty which would impose upon it a duty of good faith and fair dealing.

The case of *Sperry v. Sperry*, 990 P.2d 381 (Utah 1999), is directly on point. In *Sperry*, the plaintiff claimed that because she was a named insured under the policy, she was a first-party claimant and owed a duty of good faith in all her dealings with the insurance company, even when she was suing a co-insured to obtain liability coverage under the policy. *Sperry*, 990 P.2d at 383. Specifically, plaintiff was suing her husband for the wrongful death of her son based on her husband’s negligent driving, and she included a claim for bad faith against the insurer. *Id.*

The *Sperry* Court concluded that plaintiff had no standing to bring an action against the insurer. In arriving at its decision, the *Sperry* court stated as follows: “Annette’s [plaintiff] wrongful death claim was not based upon her own coverage but on Robert’s [plaintiff’s husband] liability coverage for negligence. Therefore, she is properly considered a third party for good faith purposes.” *Id.* at 384 (citing *Rumley v. Allstate Indem. Co.*, 924 S.W.2d 448, 450 (Tex. Ct. App. 1996) (“[B]ecause the plaintiff’s claim was not based ‘upon benefits payable to her under the policy, but upon her husband’s tort liability to her for his negligence . . . she assumed the posture of a third-party claimant’ by bringing a liability claim against her husband.”)).

Mrs. Shores attempts to confound the clarity of *Sperry* by arguing that she has a reduced right of recovery because of the household exclusion. Brief of Appellant Burdene Shores at 16-23. Mrs. Shores further asserts that these alleged limited rights of recovery somehow circumvent her tort action and render her a first-party claimant against Liberty Mutual. *Id.*

In *Sperry*, there was in fact a household exclusion provision and the insurer initially agreed to pay less in bodily injury coverage because of that provision. *Sperry*, 990 P.2d at 382. The insurer later determined that the household exclusion did not apply. *Id.* Contrary to Mrs. Shores’s arguments, the existence of the household provision was completely irrelevant to the holding. The Court in *Sperry* never made any mention that the injured party’s status could change because of the household exclusion and the potential reduced right of recovery. Furthermore, the plaintiff in *Sperry* never made this argument, and there is simply no support for Mrs. Shores’s position that her case can be distinguished from *Sperry* because Liberty Mutual

maintains that the household exclusion applies. The existence or non-existence of the household exclusion doesn't make a difference. The fact remains that plaintiff in *Sperry* was attempting to recover under the bodily injury coverage of the policy for the negligence of her husband. As such, she was a third-party claimant and had no standing to bring an action against the insurer.

Perhaps a more in-depth discussion of Mrs. Shores's status as an insured and injured party may be helpful. As mentioned above, Mrs. Shores may occupy both the position of a first-party claimant under a contract theory because she is insured by Liberty Mutual, and she may also assume the position of a third-party claimant under a tort theory because her husband negligently caused her injury. Here, Mrs. Shores is clearly not asserting any of her contract rights in bringing the bad faith claim. Any contractual rights under the policy would be extended based on the payment of damages to those injured by Mrs. Shores's own negligence while operating her insured vehicle, or payment to her directly for injuries she sustained due to the negligence of an uninsured or underinsured operator of a motor vehicle.

The present claim does not fit into these categories. A review of Mrs. Shores's counterclaim for declaratory relief shows that she occupies the position of third-party claimant. In the counterclaim, Mrs. Shores asserts that she was injured in a motor vehicle accident in which her husband, Mr. Shores, was driving, and that he was responsible for the injuries. Counterclaim at 4 (R.77). Mrs. Shores then demands payment under the liability coverage of the Liberty Mutual policy. *Id.* at 9 (R.72). Mrs. Shores is attempting to recover for her own personal

injuries under the liability coverage of the Liberty Mutual policy. The only way to recover liability coverage for the negligence of an insured is as a third-party claimant.

The presence of the household exclusion in the Liberty Mutual policy makes no difference in this third-party/first-party analysis. Mrs. Shores correctly points out that Liberty Mutual only agreed to pay \$25,000 in bodily injury coverage because of the household exclusion. This fact, however, does not in any way alter Mrs. Shores's third-party status. Liberty Mutual's attempts to enforce the provision does not transform Mrs. Shores's standing from third-party to first-party.

Mrs. Shores cites to *Black v. Allstate Insurance Company*, 100 P.3d 1163 (Utah 2004), in support of her argument that she is entitled to pursue her case against the insurer as a first party. Brief of Appellant Burdene Shores at 21 and 22. Mrs. Shores, however, misreads the facts and holding in *Black*.

In *Black v. Allstate*, Chris Black was involved in an automobile collision with Shirl Gallagher. *Black*, 100 P.3d at 1165. Both parties alleged the other was at fault and both were insured by Allstate Insurance Company. In addition, both Black and Gallagher submitted claims to Allstate for their respective damages. Black subsequently filed a lawsuit against Gallagher and Allstate. Black's claim against Gallagher was that Gallagher was fully responsible for the accident and should therefore pay his property damage for the loss. On the other hand, "Black's claim against Allstate was that Allstate breached its fiduciary duty to fairly and in good faith represent Black's interests with respect to Gallagher's claim" against Black. *Id.*

In defending the lawsuit, Allstate argued that Black had no standing because Black was not a party to the Gallagher insurance contract and therefore the insurer owed no fiduciary duties to Black. In declining this argument, the Utah Supreme Court determined that Allstate mischaracterized Black's cause of action against the insurer. *Id.* at 1167. In reviewing Black's Complaint, the Supreme Court found that "Black does not take issue with Allstate's conduct in processing his claim against Gallagher. Rather, Black argues that Allstate breached the duties it owed to him in handling Gallagher's claim against him." *Id.* The Court therefore concluded that "[w]hen handling the Gallagher claim, Allstate acted in its capacity as Black's liability insurer Hence, Black properly asserted a cause of action against Allstate based on his own contractual relationship with Allstate" *Id.*

Mrs. Shores claim is not analogous to *Black*. Unlike *Black*, Unior Shores is not asserting a claim for damages against Mrs. Shores for the automobile accident. Mrs. Shores is therefore not claiming that Liberty Mutual improperly handled a third-party claim against her under the policy. As a result, there is no privity of contract between Mrs. Shores and Liberty Mutual.

In arriving at its holding, the Supreme Court in *Black* reaffirmed its holding in *Sperry* "that the plaintiff could not be considered a party to the insurance contract for purposes of her bad faith action against the insurer since the insurer, in this capacity as the liability insurer for the husband, owed her no contractual good faith duties to settle her claim." *Id.* The Supreme Court further concluded that Allstate's reasoning would be "correct with regard to its handling of the Black claim against Gallagher." *Id.*

As in *Sperry v. Sperry* and *Rumley v. Allstate*, 924 S.W.2d 448, a case relied on by *Sperry*, Mrs. Shores's claim is not based on the "benefits payable to her under the policy, but upon her husband's tort liability to her for his negligence." *Rumley*, 924 S.W.2d at 450. As a result, Mrs. Shores occupies the position of a third-party claimant in tort, and not as a first-party claimant asserting contractual rights. This is not a first-party claim or even a mixed claim as Mrs. Shores asserts. The undisputed facts show that it is a third-party claim that is directly on point with *Sperry*, and any attempts to distinguish her claim, or liken it to *Black*, are misguided. Consequently, Mrs. Shores's counterclaim for bad faith refusal to settle was correctly dismissed by the trial court.

II.

LIBERTY MUTUAL'S HOUSEHOLD EXCLUSION DOES NOT VIOLATE SECTION 31A-21-308 OF THE UTAH CODE.

Mrs. Shores argues in her Appellate Brief that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Liberty Mutual because Liberty Mutual's policy violates Utah Code section 31A-21-308. Brief of Appellant Burdene Shores at 23-32. Section 31A-21-308(1) states in relevant part, "[i]f the policy covers various risks, different limitations may be provided separately for each risk, if the policy clearly states that." Utah Code Ann. § 31A-21-308(1) (2004). Specifically, Mrs. Shores argues that Liberty Mutual was required to include a statement in the policy to the effect that "an insured, by being an insured" is a risk under the policy, and then list the household exclusion as a limitation for that risk. Brief of Appellant Burdene Shores at 25.

This argument is unpersuasive for several reasons. First, Mrs. Shores misconstrues the meaning of section 308(1). By various risks, the statute is referring to bodily injury, uninsured motor vehicle, personal injury protection, and other such risks. The household exclusion is not a differing risk, but is an exclusion to the liability coverage of the policy. This exclusion is the same as multiple other exclusions and limitations for liability coverage. These exclusions and limitations do not constitute other varying risks, and, as a result, Section 31A-21-308(1) does not apply as Mrs. Shores contends.

Furthermore, even if the household exclusion did constitute another risk, the policy is clear in setting forth that limitation, which is all that is required of section 31A-21-308(1). This section does not provide that the separate risk has to be in the declarations as Mrs. Shores would have the Court believe. Because the limitation is clear, the household exclusion would be valid even if 31A-21-308(1) applied.²

III.

LIBERTY MUTUAL’S HOUSEHOLD EXCLUSION DOES NOT VIOLATE PUBLIC POLICY.

Burdene Shores argues that public policy, as found in case law and statutory law, prohibits the enforcement of the household exclusion in the Liberty Mutual insurance policy.

² In arguing for the statement’s inclusion, Mrs. Shores is asking this Court to read a new provision into the statute. The law clearly states, however, that a court is not permitted to write a new requirement into a statute. *In re General Determination of Rights to the Use of Water*, 110 P.3d 666, 673 (Utah 2004) (stating that a statute should be interpreted as written and therefore the court “decline[s] the invitation to write [a new] . . . requirement into the statute.”).

Brief of Appellant Burdene Shores at 15-16, 23-50. A review of the law in this area shows that Mrs. Shores's public policy arguments are unfounded.

The Utah Supreme Court held that “[a]n insurer may include in a policy any number or kind of exceptions and limitations to which an insured will agree unless contrary to statute or public policy.” *Utah Farm Bureau Ins. Co. v. Crook*, 980 P.2d 685, 688 (Utah 1999) (quoting *Gee v. Utah State Ret. Bd.*, 842 P.2d 919, 921 (Utah Ct. App. 1992)); *See also Calhoun v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 96 P.3d 916 (Utah 2004). “[T]he general judicial attitude toward insurance policies is to sustain them on grounds of public policy wherever possible.” *Id.* (quoting *Ross v. Producers Mut. Ins. Co.*, 295 P.2d 339, 343 (Utah 1956)).

Because “[t]he nature and scope of what constitutes a ‘clear and substantial’ public policy . . . is not always easily discernible,” the Supreme Court has provided a guide to assist in discerning what constitutes clear public policy. *Rackley v. Fairview Care Ctrs., Inc.*, 23 P.3d 1022, 1026 (Utah 2001). The Utah Supreme Court in *Rackley* stated that “public policy is ‘clear’ if it is plainly defined by one of three sources: (1) legislative enactments; (2) constitutional standards; or (3) judicial decisions.” *Id.* at 1027. The household exclusion in the Liberty Mutual insurance contract is supported by all three.

A. The Household Exclusion is Supported by Judicial Decisions from Utah and other States.

One of the three criteria set forth in *Rackley* for the determination of public policy is the support of judicial decisions. Case law in Utah and in other jurisdictions support Liberty Mutual's household exclusion as valid and enforceable.

A review of judicial history in Utah demonstrates that the Appellate Courts will uphold exclusions in automobile policies so long as the statutory minimum coverages are satisfied. For example, the Utah Supreme Court held as follows in a 1980 opinion:

[C]ontracting parties are free to limit coverage in excess of the minimum required limits, and the exclusion found in the contract is valid in relation to any coverage exceeding the minimum amounts. Thus, a balance is struck between the necessity of securing minimum automobile liability coverage and the availability of lower premiums because of the exclusion of high insurance risks.

Allstate Ins. Co. v. U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co., 619 P.2d 329, 333 (Utah 1980) (footnotes omitted).

In 1985, the Utah Supreme Court decided *Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Call*, 712 P.2d 231 (Utah 1985), where the court held that household exclusion clauses in automobile insurance policies are contrary to public policy and the no-fault statutes as to any amount at or below the minimum benefits established under the No-Fault Insurance Act. The Court declined to address the validity of the exclusion in excess of the statutory mandated minimums.

In 1987, the Utah Supreme Court decided *State Farm Automobile Insurance Company v. Mastbaum*, 748 P.2d 1042 (Utah 1987). In *Mastbaum*, Thomas and Kathleen Mastbaum were both insured under an automobile policy with State Farm Insurance. Mrs. Mastbaum was seated in the front passenger seat of her vehicle when she was severely injured in an accident while Mr. Mastbaum was driving. She subsequently filed a civil suit against Mr. Mastbaum alleging that he was intoxicated and negligent in operating the vehicle. Mr. Mastbaum tendered the case to State

Farm, who subsequently brought a declaratory action on the basis that the family exclusion relieved it from paying any judgment to Mrs. Mastbaum.

The majority opinion in *Mastbaum* affirmed the validity of the State Farm household exclusion and held “that the household or family exclusion is valid in this state as to insurance provided by an automobile policy in excess of the statutorily mandated amounts and benefits.” *Mastbaum*, 748 P.2d at 1044. Mrs. Shores, however, relies upon Justice Zimmerman’s concurrence and Justice Durham’s dissent in *Mastbaum* to argue that household exclusions written after 1986 are invalid under Utah Code section 31A-22-309.

Contrary to Mrs. Shores’s arguments, the concurring and dissenting opinions are not controlling. The *Mastbaum* decision is actually a plurality opinion. As such, it is not binding and does not establish any precedent for future cases. *State v. Mohi*, 901 P.2d 991, 996 (Utah 1995). In a later decision, this Court commented that the plurality decision in *Mastbaum* was dicta. *Nat’l Farmers Union Prop. & Cas. Co. v. Moore*, 882 P.2d 1168, 1170 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

Although not binding precedent, the majority opinion in *Mastbaum* recognized that the vast majority of cases throughout the country hold that household exclusions are enforceable with regard to policy amounts exceeding the statutory minimums. *Id.* at 1043-44 (and cases cited therein). The Court then concluded as follows:

We adhere to . . . the majority view and hold that the household or family exclusion is valid in this state as to insurance provided by an automobile policy in excess of the statutory mandated amounts and benefits. While the minority view is attractive from the standpoint of an injured victim, the policy must be enforced

as written when its provisions do not conflict with our mandatory automobile insurance statutes.

Id. at 1044.

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